
NO. 2015-CR-4203

EX PARTE ) IN THE DISTRICT COURT

)  437TH  JUDICIAL DISTRICT

MIGUEL MARTINEZ ) BEXAR COUNTY, TEXAS

PRETRIAL APPLICATION 

FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS

TO THE HONORABLE LORI I. VALENZUELA, JUDGE OF THE 437TH JUDICIAL

DISTRICT COURT:

Miguel Martinez files this Pretrial Application for Writ of Habeas Corpus pursuant

to articles 11.01, 11.05, 11.08 and 11.23 of the Texas Code of Criminal Procedure, and

Article V, § 8 of the Texas Constitution, and moves to bar trial on this indictment because

it is prohibited by the Double Jeopardy Clauses of the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments

to the United States Constitution, and Article I, § 14 of the Texas Constitutions..

I.

Summary Of Argument

More than two years ago, the first chair prosecutor learned that his second chair

prosecutor had once had a sexual encounter with the star witness in this case.  Despite the

considerable and obvious exculpatory value of this information, the prosecutor

intentionally told no one, because, he said, he wanted to protect the reputation of his

colleague.  Finally, a week before the trial began, the prosecutor told his boss and trial

partner, Nicholas LaHood, and the two of them consulted with the chiefs of their ethical

disclosure and appellate divisions.
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The prosecution team caucused for the rest of that week and into the next, and,

when it came time to select the jury, they deliberately elected to do so without disclosing

the exculpatory information to the defense.  The following day they disclosed the

information to the Court ex parte; later that day, and only after being ordered to do so, did

the state make a full disclosure to the defense.  Full disclosure came after the jury was

sworn, and after the prosecutor had made his opening statement and begun the direct

examination of the first witness.

During a meeting the next day, District Attorney LaHood told the Court that the

state would agree to a mistrial, and that when the case was retried he would pick a better

jury and would be more prepared for trial.  The defense responded that it was still

contemplating the appropriate remedy, and that one option would be to move for a

mistrial and then seek to bar retrial because of intentional prosecutorial misconduct. Mr.

LaHood became enraged and threatened that if that was done he would “destroy” and

“shut down” the defense lawyers’s practices and make sure they never got hired on

another case again in Bexar County.  He said he would go to the media and do whatever it

took, and that he did not care what happened to him.  He could always go back to private

practice, he said, and he would make more money as a defense attorney.  The District

Attorney’s tactic appeared to be designed to frighten the defense away from investigating

and pursuing a lawful remedy on behalf of their client.  The defense assured Mr. LaHood

they would not be intimidated.
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The trial was recessed so the parties could investigate, and after learning more the

defense did move for a mistrial, asserting that, although it was not desired, it was the only

remedy available to address the prosecutors’s failure to timely disclose exculpatory

evidence.  The prosecution denied that it had done anything wrong, but did not object to

the mistrial, and the motion was granted by the Court.  A new trial date was scheduled

and the defense made it clear that retrial would be challenged.

This application objects to a retrial because it is barred by the Double Jeopardy

Clauses of the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and by

Article I, § 14 of the Texas Constitution.  Specifically, retrial is prohibited because the

prosecutor intentionally goaded the defense into moving a mistrial; because the

prosecutor intentionally failed to disclose exculpatory evidence with the specific intent to

avoid the possibility of an acquittal; and because the prosecutor intentionally failed to

disclose exculpatory evidence with intent to protect the reputation of a colleague.  The

indictment against Miguel Martinez should be dismissed with prejudice. 

II.

The Constitutional Bases Of Our Claims

Miguel Martinez is unlawfully restrained of his liberty by the Sheriff of Bexar

County, where he is charged by bill of indictment in cause number 2015-CR-4203.  The

restraint against Mr. Martinez is illegal because his prosecution under this indictment is

barred by the Double Jeopardy Clauses of the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the

United States Constitution, and by Article I, § 14 of the Texas Constitution.
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III.

A Pretrial Application For Writ Of Habeas Corpus

Is The Preferred Way Of Litigating Jeopardy Issues 

When a person asserts that further prosecution would constitute double jeopardy

the proper, indeed, the preferred vehicle for litigating that matter is with a pretrial

application for writ of habeas corpus.  The concept of double jeopardy is meant to protect

a person, not only from multiple convictions or punishments for the same crime, but also

from being subjected to the hazards that result from multiple trials. “The underlying idea,

one that is deeply ingrained in at least the Anglo-American system of jurisprudence, is

that the State with all its resources and power should not be allowed to make repeated

attempts to convict an individual for an alleged offense, thereby subjecting him to

embarrassment, expense and ordeal and compelling him to live in a continuing state of

anxiety and insecurity, as well as enhancing the possibility that even though innocent he

may be found guilty.”  Green v. United States, 355 U.S. 184, 187-88 (1957); accord, Ex

parte Chaddock, 369 S.W.3d 880, 885-86 (Tex. Crim. App. 2012). The only way to avoid

the danger of a second illegal trial is to bar that trial before it occurs.  That is the purpose

of the pretrial application for writ of habeas corpus, and that is why the procedure is

recognized under both state and federal law.  See Ex parte Robinson, 641 S.W.2d 552,

555 (Tex. Crim. App. 1982)(a pretrial writ of habeas corpus is the proper procedure to

assert the “Fifth Amendment right not to be exposed to double jeopardy and [to insure

that it is] reviewable before that exposure occurs”); see also Abney v. United States, 431
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U.S. 651, 660-61 (1977)(“the rights conferred on a criminal accused by the Double

Jeopardy Clause would be significantly undermined if appellate review of double

jeopardy claims were postponed until after conviction and sentence);  Headrick v. State,

988 S.W.2d 226, 228 (Tex. Crim. App. 1999)(“the right not to be tried twice for the same

offense would be meaningless if it could not be raised before the commencement of the

second trial”) . 

IV.

The Factual Basis Of This Application

A. What the police knew in 2015.

The indictment alleges that Miguel Martinez committed the offense of murder on

or about January 11, 2015. [Exhibit A, attached]   On January 19, 2015, San Antonio

Police Detective Duke contacted Gregory Dalton and asked him to come to the homicide

office.  [Exhibit B, attached]1  Although “very reluctant . . . he ultimately agreed.”  As

they were about to drive away, Dalton ran off and discarded some marijuana, which

caused Duke to arrest him.  At the homicide office Duke read Dalton his Miranda

warning based on the marijuana charge, and began to question him about the murder.  As

soon as the conversation turned to his vehicle, Dalton said, “I want an attorney.”  The

homicide detective then explained to Dalton that “he is jammed up in a murder case and

he could be charged with murder.”  Dalton continued to deny knowing anything about a

     1 Exhibit B is an excerpt from Detective Dukes’s prosecution guide, the source for the facts
asserted in § IV.A of this Application.
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murder, but as the detective elaborated, he changed his story and began to implicate

Miguel Martinez.  Eventually, Dalton claimed that Mr. Martinez had admitted his guilt to

him.  Dalton changed his story frequently and told a number of lies during this six hour

interview, and he continued to insist that he himself had not committed the murder, that

he had merely picked up Mr. Martinez from the murder scene, thinking it had been a

“drug drop.”    

Duke summoned Dalton back to the homicide office on February 9, 2015 “to

clarify some points in his original statement.”  When confronted with his lies, Dalton

admitted, among other things, that, after Mr. Martinez had allegedly confessed to the

murder, he (Dalton) told him to “take the battery out and get rid of [the complainant’s

Iphone).”  

On January 21, 2015, Detective Duke interviewed Mr. Martinez, who denied

committing the murder.  After their conversation, the detective “walked a warrant,” and

Mr. Martinez was arrested the same day.  He has been incarcerated in the Bexar County

Adult Detention Center since that time.  On March 1, 2015, Detective Duke  completed

his prosecution guide and delivered it to the Bexar County District Attorney’s Office.

B. The second-chair properly disclosed her relationship, but the first-chair made

a conscious choice not to.

Assistant district attorney Jason Goss, first-chair prosecutor in the 437th Judicial

District Court, remembers first getting the file in this case in January or February, 2015. 

It was his responsibility to do intake on all murder cases in the Court, and he did so here. 
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Shortly after receiving the prosecution guide, Mr. Goss asked his second-chair prosecutor

to help on the case, gave her the case file, and instructed her to read it to familiarize

herself with the case.  The next day she came into his office and shut the door.  She was

“embarrassed” and “mortified” and explained that three years before she had had a sexual

encounter with Gregory Dalton.  She and Mr. Goss agreed she could not do anything

further on the case. [In Chambers Hearing, February 9, 2017, p. 33]  She asked that, if

possible, no one else be notified, and Mr. Goss agreed.  Acting unilaterally and motivated,

he says, by a desire to protect his colleague, he constructed what he called a “firewall”

and instructed her to have nothing more to do with the case.  He had no further

conversations with his colleague about the case. 

As his colleague had requested, Mr. Goss told no one else of the relationship for

almost two years.  At some point, District Attorney Nicholas LaHood, while conducting a

review of cases in his office, learned of this case and, according to him, it “caught [his]

attention because of the sheer callousness and cold bloodedness of the defendant’s

actions.”2  Mr. LaHood decided he would prosecute the case with Mr. Goss.  

C. The defense’s motion for exculpatory evidence.

The effective date of the Michael Morton Act is January 1, 2014.  It governs this

case, which allegedly occurred on January 11, 2015.  Texas prosecutors are obligated to

disclose to the defense any exculpatory, impeachment, or mitigating information in its

     2 Elizabeth Zavala, San Antonio’s LaHood Prosecuting 2015 Murder Case Himself, SAN

ANTONIO EXPRESS-NEWS, February 8, 2017.
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possession that “tends to negate the guilt of the defendant,” and there is no requirement

that the defense make a request for such evidence.  See TEX. CODE CRIM. PROC. ANN. art.

39.14(h). 

But even assuming the defense were required to request disclosure, it did so here,

far in advance of trial, on July 29, 2015, with its Motion For Discovery Of Exculpatory

And Mitigating Evidence that relied on Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963); United

States v. Bagley, 473 U.S. 667 (1985); the Due Process of Law Clause of the Fourteenth

Amendment to the United States Constitution; the Due Course of Law provisions of

Article I, §§ 13 and 19 of the Texas Constitution; and Rule 309(d) of the Texas

Disciplinary Rules of Professional Conduct.  This motion was granted on January 19,

2017.

D. The District Attorney, the Appellate Section, and the Chief of the Ethical

Disclosure Unit conferred and consciously decided to select the jury without

disclosing the sexual relationship to either the Court or the defense.

As shown by an email from prosecutor Goss, he and Mr. LaHood interviewed

Gregory Dalton on Tuesday, January 31, 2017. [Exhibit C, attached]  According to Mr.

Goss, sometime during this interview or shortly after it, he concluded Dalton was more

than “just somebody who is a witness to the case. . . .  I kind of get an idea of what the

defensive theory might be.  I kind of get an idea of the importance of all this. . . .  But at

the time, with all that information, and that's when I said I don't need to keep quiet about

this. This is something that we need to at least talk to about with other people because I
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can see now how there can be an issue, and that’s when we talked.”  ”  [In Chambers

Hearing, February 9, 2017, p. 34]   Apparently the “we” Mr. Goss meant was his boss,

District Attorney LaHood.  In any event, this conversation very clearly did not include

anyone on the defense team. 

  Although Mr. Goss has said the Brady/Morton issue regarding the relationship

between Dalton and his colleague was not clear,3 he did feel obligated on February 1 to

notify the defense in writing about information that Dalton had kept from Detective Duke,

and had only revealed in his interview the day before, namely that Mr. Martinez had

allegedly solicited Dalton’s assistance a month before the murder and offered him

$1,000.00 to help.  Dalton claimed he declined, but did request the opportunity to have sex

with the intended victim before she was killed. [Exhibit D, attached]  At the time this

written notice was provided, defense lawyer Christian Henricksen asked Mr. Goss if he

had any other exculpatory information to disclose.  Mr. Goss said he did not. 

Sometime on or after Wednesday, February 1, Mr. Goss and Mr. LaHood spoke to

     3 At other times, Mr. Goss seemed to recognize and admit very clearly that “there is
impeachment value.” [In Chambers Hearing, February 8, 2017, p. 12] “I’m trying to avoid her
reputation being impugned while also keeping in mind the fact the defendant has the right, as the

Court has pointed out, to impeach a witness for that relationship.”   [In Chambers Hearing,
February 8, 2017, p. 12] [emphasis supplied] “It’s never been our position that it’s not possible to
impeach.” [In Chambers Hearing, February 9, 2017, p. 12] “And then once I realized the
importance, you know, obviously we do whatever we can to do our ethical duty to make sure you
guys know about it.  And like we’ve said, there’s no argument about your need to investigate.”
[In Chambers Hearing, February 9, 2017, p. 35][emphasis supplied]
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“appeals,” whose response was, “I don’t know.”4  The law, according to Mr. Goss, was

“not actually clear . . . that that is even Brady or can be impeached.”  [In Chambers

Hearing, February 9, 2017, p. 35]  Next, input from the “Ethical Disclosure Unit” was

sought.5  The prosecution team caucused for the rest of that week and into the next, but

continued to disclose nothing to the defense about the sexual relationship..  

On Tuesday, February 7, 2017, Court convened at 10:15 am to consider certain

pretrial matters.  Despite having now had a team of lawyers, including the District

Attorney himself, considering the issue for a week, the prosecutors said nothing about their

colleague’s relationship with star witness Dalton.  Jury selection commenced at 11:44 am,

and concluded at 7:48 pm, and still, no mention was made of the relationship.

E. Finally, after the jury was selected, the prosecutors first made an ex parte

disclosure to the Court, and then a partial disclosure to the defense; later, after

being ordered by Court to do so, full disclosure was made, but only after the

jury was sworn, an opening statement was made, and the first witness was

called. 

Court convened the next day, Wednesday, February 8, at 10:00 am.  Prosecutor

Goss filed the State's Motion For Ex Parte Communication And In Camera Consideration

Of Potential Conflict Issue and presented same in chambers to this Court. The ex parte

hearing concluded at 10:23 am, after which Mr. Goss disclosed to the defense, for the very

first time, that an unnamed person in the District Attorney’s Office had formerly had a

     4 We believe that, by “appeals,” Mr. Goss is referring to the Chief of the Appellate Section,
Enrico Valdez.

     5 We believe that the person consulted was assistant district attorney Patrick Ballantyne.
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sexual relationship with its witness Gregory Dalton.  Mr. Goss did not divulge the name of

the prosecutor, or, despite its obvious relevance, that she had once prosecuted in the 437th,

and that she had actually been given access to the prosecutor’s file in this case.  Not

knowing the name of the prosecutor, or that she had been assigned to the 437th and had

access to the case file, the defense was not overly concerned.  

At 11:33 am the jury was sworn, and at 11:40 am, Mr. Goss commenced his

lengthy, detailed opening statement.  The defense did not make an opening statement.  The

state called it’s first witness, Luis Castillo, at 12:18 pm, and conducted direct examination

until 12:42 pm, when the Court recessed for lunch.  At this time, for the first time, and

only after being ordered to do so by the Court, the prosecution finally disclosed to the

defense what it had known for almost two years — that a certain prosecutor who had

formerly been the second-chair prosecutor in this Court and who had actually worked on

the case for at least one day with full access to the file, had once been sexually involved

with Gregory Dalton, a star witness for the state against Miguel Martinez.

F. The District Attorney said he would pick a better jury, would get more

prepared, and then threatened to “destroy” and “shut down” the practices of

members of the defense team if they pursued a lawful remedy. 

Court recessed for the day at 4:10 pm on February 8.  The defense was concerned

about the latest disclosure from Mr. Goss and sent an email to the Court and the

prosecution that evening requesting a continuance to further consider this issue, and the

Court granted the request. [Exhibit E, attached]
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The next day, February 9, Mr. Goss texted Mr. Henricksen and requested a meeting

in the Court’s chambers.  During that meeting District Attorney LaHood told the Court

that the state would agree to a mistrial.  He said that if given the opportunity to choose

another jury, he would pick a better jury than the one then in the box.  And he promised

that the prosecutors would be better prepared for trial the next time.  Joe Gonzales, lead

counsel for Mr. Martinez, responded that the defense was unwilling to agree to a mistrial

at that time, that the defense was still investigating and considering its options, and that if

the defense believed after investigation that requisite prosecutorial misconduct had been

committed, it would challenge a retrial as constitutionally prohibited.  Mr. LaHood became

enraged and directly threatened Mr. Gonzales and Mr. Henricksen.  Looking at first one,

then the other, the District Attorney said that he would “destroy” and “shut down” their

practices and would make sure they never got hired on another case again in Bexar

County.  He said he would go to the media and do whatever it took, and that he did not

care what happened to him.  He could always go back to private practice, he said, and

make more money as a defense attorney.  Mr. Martinez’s lawyers assured Mr. LaHood

they would not be intimidated, and that they would seek any remedies supported by the

law and the evidence. Soon thereafter the in-chambers meeting ended and the defense and

prosecution teams continued their discussion in the Court’s jury room.

On February 13, 2017, the defense and prosecution jointly met and interviewed the

second-chair prosecutor and she did not deny the relationship with Gregory Dalton. 
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Efforts were also made to interview Mr. Dalton, but he refused to cooperate.

G. The defense was forced to move for a mistrial.

On February 14, 2017, the Court convened and established that all jurors would be

able to continue on with the trial.  On February 16, 2017, Court convened again, and the

defense moved for a mistrial.  Counsel for Mr. Martinez made it clear that they did not

want to move for a mistrial, but felt forced to do so, to protect Mr. Martinez’s

constitutional rights to effective assistance of counsel, in light of the prosecution’s

untimely disclosure of exculpatory evidence.  The prosecution refused to agree that it had

made an untimely disclosure, or that it had done anything to cause the defense to move for

a mistrial, but it did not object to the motion for mistrial.  The motion was granted and trial

was scheduled for May 15, 2017.  The defense announced on the record that it would file

before that date an objection to the retrial.  

H. There is no question that the undisclosed evidence is exculpatory.

The prosecution is constitutionally obligated to disclose all information in its

possession that is favorable to the defendant and material either to guilt or to punishment.

Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83, 87 (1963).   This includes impeachment evidence. United

States v. Bagley, 473 U.S. 667, 675-78 (1985).  

Texas has enacted a statutory rule that is even more comprehensive, requiring the

prosecutor to "disclose to the defendant any exculpatory, impeachment, or mitigating

document, item, or information in the possession, custody, or control of the state that tends

13



to negate the guilt of the defendant or would tend to reduce the punishment for the offense

charged.” TEX. CODE CRIM. PROC. ANN. art. 39.14(h)(emphasis supplied).  This requires

disclosure without regard to materiality or the "the anticipated impact of the information

on the outcome of a trial.”   Schultz v. Commission For Lawyer Discipline Of The State

Bar Of Texas, 2015 WL 9855916 *10-11 (State Board of Disciplinary Appeals 2015. 

Texas Disciplinary Rule of Professional Conduct 3.09(d) imposes the same duties on

prosecutors as does article 39.14(h).  As the Board in Schultz recognized, "Rule 3.09(d)’s

“clarity . . . is a safeguard for prosecutors and citizens alike: if there is any way a piece of

information could be viewed as exculpatory, impeaching, or mitigating—err on the side of

disclosure.”  Schultz, *11(emphasis supplied).  

This Court immediately recognized the exculpatory nature of evidence in question.

Not only is the evidence exculpatory when one focuses on the second-chair’s involvement

in this case.  It also has independent significance because of Gregory Dalton, the state’s

key witness, and “[t]he six hundred rules.”  

Because [the prosecutor] may not have even remembered his
name.  But if Mr. Dalton fell in love with [her] on the night in
question and . . .  these rules we are talking about and that
ultimately will govern my decision-making apply to Mr.
Dalton.  We may never get to this relationship because that is
a specific instance of conduct that may or may not ever come
out.  But how we get there matters from Mr. Dalton’s

perspective and whether or not Mr. Dalton had a particular

bias or motive, et cetera.  So I’m looking at it from both

directions.  The [prosecutor] issue is one thing. . . .  But
there’s a whole other issue that the Court has to contend with
and I can’t ignore that.  I can’t ignore what Mr. Dalton is
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coming to the table with.  And he’s coming, in my mind, with
some pretty good information for the State. 

[In Chambers Hearing, February 9, 2017, pp. 23-24][emphasis supplied]; see Hammer v.

State, 296 S.W.3d 555, 563 (Tex. Crim. App. 2009) (“generally speaking, the Texas Rules

of Evidence permit the defendant to cross-examine a witness for his purported bias,

interest, and motive without undue limitation or arbitrary prohibition.”).  Under the Sixth

Amendment, "[t]he partiality of a witness is subject to exploration at trial, and is ‘always

relevant as discrediting the witness and affecting the weight of his testimony.'"  Davis v.

Alaska, 415 U.S. 308, 316 (1974); see also Daywood v. State, 248 S.W. 2d 479, 484 (Tex.

Crim. App. 1952)(prosecutor was properly allowed to show the personal relationship

between the witness and the appellant because “it was relevant for the purpose of showing

her bias and friendship and close relationship to appellant, and her interest in testifying in

his behalf, and consequently as touching her credibility”).

Moreover, as the Court also recognized, and as Mr. Goss reluctantly admitted when

pressed by the Court, Dalton is not just any witness in this case;  he is the state’s “star

witness.” [In Chambers Hearing, February 8, 2017, pp. 10-12]  Indeed, Dalton is not only

a “star witness,” there is substantial evidence that points to him as at least an accomplice

in this case, and possibly as the actual murderer himself.6  In light of Dalton’s key role in

     6 Detective Duke warned Dalton that he was ,"jammed up in a murder case and he could be
charged with murder.” [Exhibit B, attached]  Luis Castillo heard six gunshots and when he
looked outside he saw a white Dodge Caravan minivan, possibly with a blue decal on it,
departing the murder scene and Dalton drove a vehicle like this;  Dalton admitted being at the
murder scene in his Caravan, though he claimed that he was there to pick up Mr. Martinez from a
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this case, it cannot seriously be argued that the disclosure that he had had a previous

sexual relationship with a prosecutor in this Court who had also worked on this case, was

not discoverable under both Brady v. Maryland, and article 39.14(h) of the Texas Code of

Criminal Procedure.  

“A prosecutor who errs on the side of withholding evidence from the defense runs

the risk of violating Brady if the reviewing court ultimately decides that it should have

been turned over.”  Ex parte Temple, 2016 WL 6903758 *3 (Tex. Crim. App. 2016)(not

designated for publication).  As the Board of Disciplinary Appeals recommended in

Schultz, "if there is any way a piece of information could be viewed as exculpatory,

impeaching, or mitigating—err on the side of disclosure.”  Just a year ago, Harris County

prosecutor Melissa Hervey gave similar advice to her fellow prosecutors: “Don’t get

burned—if there is any conceivable way in which information or evidence could be

considered favorable to the defense for exculpation, impeachment, or mitigation purposes,

drug drop.  Dalton says he told Mr. Martinez to get rid of his cell phone, and to take the battery
out of the complainant's cell phone and destroy it.  Dalton told the prosecutors that Mr. Martinez
had offered him $1,000.00 to kill the complainant a month before she was killed, and that,
although he declined, he asked if he could have sex with her before she was killed.  And,
according to Dalton, on the night of the murder, Mr. Martinez gave him only $400.00 because he
had not done any of the actual work.  As the prosecutor told this Court: “Dalton has information
about the murder that no one else could know unless Dalton committed the murder, was present
for the murder or was told by the defendant after the murder.  And that’s the State’s theory.” The
prosecutor also believed he had figured out the defense’s theory.  “[W]e anticipate that the
defense will be that Dalton committed the murder because of these . . . things that point to him.” 
Given all this, it is not surprising that Mr. Goss would concede that “yes, it is not wrong to say

that Dalton is a star witness.”  [In Chambers Hearing, February 8, 2017, p. 11-12][emphasis
supplied]
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don’t stop to wonder whether the information or evidence is material and admissible. Just

disclose it.”  Melissa Hervey, Just Disclose It, THE TEXAS PROSECUTOR, March-April

2016, Volume 46, No. 2. Had our prosecutors heeded this advice, Mr. Martinez’s case

would not be before this Court today.

V.

Argument And Authorities

A.

First Ground For Relief

It Violates The Double Jeopardy Clause of The Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments

To The United States Constitution To Retry Miguel Martinez After The

Prosecution Goaded The Defense Into Moving For A Mistrial 

1. The Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments prohibit double jeopardy.

The Fifth Amendment's Double Jeopardy Clause says that no person shall "be

subject for the same offence to be twice put in jeopardy of life or limb."  The double

jeopardy prohibition of the Fifth Amendment “represents a fundamental ideal in our

constitutional heritage,” that applies to the States through the Fourteenth Amendment.  

Benton v. Maryland, 395 U.S. 784, 794 (1969). 

The Double Jeopardy Clause protects defendants from repeated prosecutions for the

same offense. United States v. Dinitz, 424 U.S. 600, 606 (1976).  Part of the protection

guaranteed to a defendant against multiple prosecutions, is the “valued right to have his

trial completed by a particular tribunal.”  Wade v. Hunter, 336 U.S. 684, 689 (1949). 
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2. Oregon v. Kennedy prevents the state from retrying a defendant after it has

goaded him into moving for a mistrial.

In Oregon v. Kennedy, 456 U.S. 667 (1982), after the state’s witness testified that

he had never done business with the defendant, the prosecutor asked: “Is that because he is

a crook?”  The defense then moved for and received a mistrial.  Id. at 669.  When the state

sought to retry him, Kennedy objected, asserting that retrial was barred under the Double

Jeopardy Clause.  The trial court denied the motion, finding that the prosecutor had not

intended to cause a mistrial.  The Oregon Court of Appeals reversed.  A sharply divided

decision by the United States Supreme Court reversed the Oregon court, holding that the

Double Jeopardy Clause does not bar retrial in the absence of evidence of prosecutorial

intent to goad the defense into moving for a mistrial.  Id. at 679.  

3. There is ample evidence of intent in Mr. Martinez’s case.

Kennedy turned on the intent of the prosecutor.  “Inferring the existence or

nonexistence of intent from objective facts and circumstances is a familiar process in our

criminal justice system.”  Oregon v. Kennedy, 456 U.S. at 675.  In our case, in contrast to

Kennedy, it cannot be denied that the prosecution intentionally failed to disclose the

evidence in question, and there is ample evidence of a specific intent to cause a mistrial.  

In Kennedy, there was a single instance of misconduct that happened in the middle

of a trial.  “[T]here was no sequence of overreaching prior to the single prejudicial

question. . . .  Moreover, it is evident from a colloquy between counsel and the court, out

of the presence of the jury, that the prosecutor not only resisted, but also was surprised by,
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the defendant's motion for a mistrial.”  Oregon v. Kennedy, 456 U.S. at 680 (Powell, J.,

concurring).  

In Mr. Martinez’s case, the misconduct was much more than a single prejudicial

question asked in the heat of trial.  Instead, it comprised an undeniably intentional course

of conduct extending for some two years prior to trial, and involved multiple members and

specialized units of the Bexar County District Attorney’s Office, – including the District

Attorney himself – who consciously and deliberately decided not to disclose clearly

exculpatory evidence for reasons having nothing whatsoever to do with the rights of the

defendant.  

Additionally – and crucially – unlike in Kennedy, there is no evidence that the

prosecution was “surprised by” the motion for mistrial, or that the motion was “resisted.” 

To the contrary, the District Attorney told the Court and the defense on February 9 that he

welcomed a mistrial, predicted that he would pick a better jury next time, and promised

that he would be more prepared for trial at that time.  The State of Texas may not,

consistently with the Constitution, intentionally withhold evidence that is obviously

exculpatory for almost two years, select a jury, begin a trial, and then make an untimely

disclosure of the evidence, thereby forcing the defense to move for a mistrial, with an end-

result that“afford[s] the prosecution a more favorable opportunity to convict.”  Cf.,

Downum v. United States, 372 U.S. 734, 736 (1963).  But the only reasonable inference

from the totality of facts and circumstances is that this is exactly what happened in Miguel
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Martinez’s case.   Should there be any doubt that this is in fact what happened, the doubt

must be resolved “in favor of the liberty of the citizen, rather than exercise what would be

an unlimited, uncertain, and arbitrary judicial discretion.”  Downum v. United States, 372

U.S. at 738.  

Retrying Mr. Martinez would violate the Double Jeopardy Clause of the Fifth and

Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution.  The relief requested in this

Application should be granted and the indictment should be dismissed with prejudice. See

State v. Yetman, 2016 WL 7436645 *6 (Tex. App.–Houston [1st Dist.] 2016, no pet.)(not

yet published)(affirming the trial court’s decision to bar defendant’s retrial where the

evidence supported the trial court’s findings that the prosecutor intended to goad the

defense into moving for a mistrial).

B.

Second Ground For Relief

It Violates The Double Jeopardy Clause of Article I, § 14 of the Texas Constitution 

To Retry Miguel Martinez After The Prosecution Goaded The Defense

Into Moving For A Mistrial

Article I, § 14 of the Texas Constitution provides: “No person, for the same

offense, shall be twice put in jeopardy of life or liberty; nor shall a person be again put

upon trial for the same offense, after a verdict of not guilty in a court of competent

jurisdiction.”  Although it appears to be the present opinion of the Texas Court of Criminal

Appeals that Article I, § 14 of the Texas Constitution provides no greater protection than
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does the federal Double Jeopardy Clause,7 that court recently cited the state constitutional

provision in conjunction with its federal counterpart when granting relief to a petitioner. 

Ex parte Masonheimer,  220 S.W.3d 494, 509 (Tex. Crim. App. 2007). Retrial is also

barred in this case under Article I, § 14 of the Texas Constitution because the prosecution

intentionally failed to timely disclose exculpatory evidence, thereby goading Mr. Martinez

into moving for a mistrial.

C.

Third Ground For Relief

It Violates The Double Jeopardy Clause of The Fifth and Fourteenth 

Amendments To The United States Constitution To Retry Miguel Martinez

After The Prosecution Intentionally Failed To Disclose Exculpatory Evidence

With The Specific Intent To Avoid The Possibility Of An Acquittal

 

1. The state may not retry a defendant where a mistrial was necessitated by an

intentional failure to disclose exculpatory evidence with the specific intent to

avoid the possibility of an acquittal.

Ex parte Masonheimer, 220 S.W.3d 494 (Tex. Crim. App. 2007), recognized the

test established in Oregon v. Kennedy — that retrial is jeopardy-barred following a

mistrial if the prosecutor goaded the defense into moving for a mistrial.  The Court went

on to find that Kennedy established an additional bar:   

[W]e are constrained to decide that the extensive portions of the record set out in
this opinion support a finding that appellee's mistrial motions were necessitated
primarily by the State's “intentional” failure to disclose exculpatory evidence that
was available prior to appellee's first trial with the specific intent to avoid the
possibility of an acquittal. Under Oregon v. Kennedy, this deliberate conduct,
accompanied by this specific mens rea, bars a retrial. We are persuaded that, in a

     7 Ex parte Lewis, 219 S.W.3d 335, 337 (Tex. Crim. App. 2007).
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case like this, a defendant suffers the same harm as when the State intentionally
‘goads’ or provokes the defendant into  moving for a mistrial.

  
Id. at 507-09 (citations omitted).

Masonheimer was charged with murdering his daughter’s boyfriend, and his

defense was self-defense and defense of his daughter.  Among other things, the defense

told the court that the deceased’s conduct had grown increasingly aggressive because of

his use of anabolic steroids.  Prior to trial, the court had ordered the state to turn over to

the defense exculpatory evidence.  After Masonheimer entered his plea in a bench trial,

the prosecutor disclosed that friends of the deceased had found among his possessions

steroids and syringes, and had thrown them away so that his ex-wife would not know

about his usage of the substances.  Masonheimer moved for a mistrial, and, after finding

that the undisclosed evidence was exculpatory and that the prosecution recklessly failed to

disclose it, the trial court granted the defense’s motion.  When the state attempted to retry

Masonheimer he raised a double jeopardy objection and, after hearing evidence, the trial

court sustained the objection and ordered the prosecution dismissed with prejudice.  Id. at

505.  

The state appealed, and the court of appeals reversed the dismissal.  The Texas

Court of Criminal Appeals, using the standard set forth above, then reversed the court of

appeals and reinstated the dismissal.  The high court ruled that the facts supported a

finding that Masonheimer’s mistrial motions were necessitated primarily by the state’s

intentional failure to disclose exculpatory evidence with the specific intent to avoid the
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possibility of an acquittal.  “Under Oregon v. Kennedy, this deliberate conduct,

accompanied by this specific mens rea, bars a retrial.  Id. at 507-08.  

The parallels between Masonheimer and Mr. Martinez’s case are strong and

undeniable:    

C Here, as in Masonheimer, the defense sought exculpatory evidence well in advance
of trial (July, 29, 2015), and this Court ordered disclosure on January 19, 2017,
several weeks before the trial began.  Furthermore, unlike Masonheimer, our case
arose after January 1, 2014, and was governed by TEX. CODE CRIM. PROC. art.
39.14(h), which is even more generous than the constitutional standard, requiring
disclosure of “exculpatory, impeachment, or mitigating” evidence, without request,
and without regard to its materiality or admissibility.  

C Here, as in Masonheimer, there is no dispute that the prosecutors intentionally
failed to disclose the evidence in question.  Mr. Goss admits that he became aware
that his prosecutor had a sexual relationship with Dalton two years ago, and that he
initially decided on his own that it did not need to be disclosed.  When he finally
told others in the office – namely, Mr. LaHood, Mr. Valdez, and Mr. Ballantyne –
they apparently agreed, and they sat on the evidence for a week before disclosing
it, not to the defense, but to the Court, and only then after the jury had been
selected.  Whatever motivated this failure to disclose, there can be no question that
it was done intentionally, and after conscious deliberation and discussion.  See also

Ex parte Masonheimer, 220 S.W.3d 494, 509-10 (Tex. Crim. App. 2007)(Meyers,
J., concurring)(“The prosecutors may say that they did not want a mistrial, but if
their actions were intentional rather than accidental or careless, and they should
have known that a mistrial would be granted, then the Oregon v. Kennedy standard
is met and retrial is jeopardy-barred. Rather than trying to determine the subjective
intent of the prosecutor, we can objectively look at the actions of the State to
determine if the actions were intentional.”).

C And, as in Masonheimer, there can be no legitimate question about the exculpatory
value of the evidence in question, as we have previously demonstrated in §IV.H of
this Application. Mr. Goss himself seems to have recognized his error by the time
of the in chambers hearing:  "I understand that you guys have an issue with - with
the disclosure and I'm not going to argue with that. I understand it.  If I can do it

over again, I might have disclosed it earlier because -- because of all of this."  [In
chambers hearing, February 9, 2017, p. 34]  Unfortunately the prosecutor's belated
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realization comes too late to cure the constitutional errors in this case. 

Based on very similar facts, the court of criminal appeals barred retrial in

Masonheimer, concluding that his motions for mistrial had been necessitated by the state’s

intentional failure to disclose exculpatory evidence, done with the specific intent to avoid

the possibility of an acquittal.  This Court should make the same finding in Miguel

Martinez’s case.  Retrial is barred by the Double Jeopardy Clause of the Fifth and

Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution, and the indictment should be

dismissed with prejudice.

D.

Fourth Ground For Relief

It Violates The Double Jeopardy Clause Of Article I, § 14 Of The Texas Constitution 

To Retry Miguel Martinez After The Prosecution Intentionally Failed

To Disclose Exculpatory Evidence With The Specific Intent

To Avoid The Possibility Of An Acquittal

Retrial is also barred in this case under Article I, § 14 of the Texas Constitution

because the prosecution intentionally failed to timely disclose exculpatory evidence, with

the specific intent to avoid the possibility of an acquittal.  Ex parte Masonheimer, 220

S.W. 3d 494, 509 (Tex. Crim. App. 2007).
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E.

Fifth Ground For Relief

It Violates The Double Jeopardy Clause of The Fifth and Fourteenth 

Amendments To The United States Constitution To Retry Miguel Martinez

After The Prosecution Intentionally Failed To Disclose Exculpatory

Evidence With The Specific Intent To Protect A Colleague

In The Bexar County District Attorney’s Office

From Personal Embarrassment

Mr. Goss told this Court that he believed disclosure of the information “could cause

damage to [her] reputation . . . could harm her personally,” and that he was “trying to

avoid her reputation being impugned. . . .” [In Chambers Hearing, Feburary 8, 2017, pp 6,

12-13]  The prosecutors may claim in this case that protecting their colleague was their

only motivation for not making a timely disclosure, and that they had neither the specific

intent to goad the defense into moving for a mistrial, or to avoid the possibility of an

acquittal, and therefore retrial is not barred under either Oregon v. Kennedy, or

Masonheimer.  As we have shown above, though, there is ample evidence supporting

relief under both cases.  

And there is an additional reason to bar retrial that is based on unique facts in our

case that were not found in either Kennedy or Masonheimer.  Even if this Court were to

accept the prosecutors’s claims at face value – and despite the evidence and reasonable

inferences that exist in this case to the contrary – that they were motivated solely by a

desire to protect the reputation of a colleague, the Double Jeopardy Clause would still bar

the reprosecution of Mr. Martinez.  However noble their intent – if it was noble – an intent
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to protect the reputation and standing of a friend and colleague demonstrably has

absolutely nothing whatsoever to do with either the constitutional right of an accused to be

free from multiple prosecutions, or a Texas prosecutor’s duty to “see that justice is done.”8 

It would be a strange rule if the prosecutors here could avoid the consequences of their

intentional failure to timely disclose exculpatory evidence by claiming that they did it, not

to goad the defendant into moving for a mistrial, and not to avoid an acquittal, but to

protect a colleague.  In Masonheimer, the court barred retrial believing, not that the

prosecutor intended to goad the defense into moving for a mistrial, but instead that he

specifically intended to avoid the possibility of an acquittal. To the court, this was a

distinction without a difference.  “We are persuaded that, in a case like this, a defendant

suffers the same harm as when the State intentionally “goads” or provokes the defendant

into moving for a mistrial.”  220 S.W.3d at 508-09.  That is also true here.  Whatever the

prosecutors’s motivations, Miguel Martinez suffers the same harm.  The “State with all its

resources and power,” should not be permitted, in the name of protecting one of its own, to

intentionally withhold exculpatory evidence until after the first jury is selected, and then

get another opportunity to pick a better jury, and get more prepared, and in that improved

posture make another attempt “to convict an individual for an alleged offense, thereby

subjecting him to embarrassment, expense and ordeal and compelling him to live in a

     8 TEX. CODE CRIM. PROC. ANN. art. 2.01.  This statute concludes by reminding us all that
prosecutors “shall not suppress facts or secrete witnesses capable of establishing the innocence of
the accused.”  
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continuing state of anxiety and insecurity, as well as enhancing the possibility that even

though innocent he may be found guilty.”  See Green v. United States, 355 U.S. 184, 187-

88 (1957).  This application should be granted, and the indictment against Miguel

Martinez should be dismissed with prejudice pursuant to the Double Jeopardy Clause of

the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution. 

F.

Sixth Ground For Relief

It Violates Article I, § 14 Of The Texas Constitution To Retry Miguel Martinez

After The Prosecution Intentionally Failed To Disclose Exculpatory

Evidence With The Specific Intent To Protect A Colleague

In The Bexar County District Attorney’s Office

From Personal Embarrassment 

Retrial is also barred in this case under Article I, § 14 of the Texas Constitution

because the prosecution intentionally failed to timely disclose exculpatory evidence, with

the specific intent to protect a fellow prosecutor.
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PRAYER

Because it would violate federal and state constitutional prohibitions against double

jeopardy to allow the state retry Miguel Martinez after intentionally failing to timely

disclose exculpatory evidence, the relief we request in this application should be granted,

and the indictment should be dismissed with prejudice.  

Respectfully submitted:

                                                                        

MARK STEVENS

State Bar No. 19184200

310 S. St. Mary's Street

Tower Life Building, Suite 1920

San Antonio, TX  78205

(210) 226-1433

                                                                        

JOE D. GONZALES

State Bar No. 08119125 

1924 N Main Ave

 San Antonio, TX 78212

(210) 472-3780

                                                                        

CHRISTIAN HENRICKSEN

State Bar No. 24048538

1924 N Main Ave

 San Antonio, TX 78212

(210) 472-3780

Attorneys for Applicant
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I certify that a copy of this Pretrial Application For Writ Of Habeas Corpus has

been delivered to the Bexar County District Attorney’s Office in San Antonio, Texas, on

this the 6th day of March, 2017.

                                                                            

MARK STEVENS
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THE STATE OF TEXAS )

AFFIDAVIT

COUNTY OF BEXAR    )

BEFORE ME, the undersigned authority, on this day personally appeared Miguel

Martinez, who after being duly sworn stated: 

My name is Miguel Martinez.  I am the defendant and applicant in the

above-entitled and numbered cause.  I have read this Pretrial Application For Writ Of

Habeas Corpus and swear that all of the allegations of fact contained therein are true and

correct to the best of my knowledge and belief.

_______________________________

MIGUEL MARTINEZ

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN to before me this ____ day of March, 2017 to certify

which witness my hand and seal of office.

                             

Notary Public, State of Texas

My commission expires: 
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THE STATE OF TEXAS )

AFFIDAVIT

COUNTY OF BEXAR    )

BEFORE ME, the undersigned authority, on this day personally appeared Mark

Stevens, who after being duly sworn stated: 

My name is Mark Stevens.  I am one of the attorneys for the defendant and

applicant, Miguel Martinez, in the above-entitled and numbered cause.  I have read this

Pretrial Application For Writ Of Habeas Corpus and swear that all of the allegations of

fact contained therein are true and correct.

_______________________________

MARK STEVENS

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN to before me this ____ day of March, 2017 to certify

which witness my hand and seal of office.

                             

Notary Public, State of Texas

My commission expires: 
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THE STATE OF TEXAS )

AFFIDAVIT

COUNTY OF BEXAR    )

BEFORE ME, the undersigned authority, on this day personally appeared Joe

Gonzales, who after being duly sworn stated: 

My name is Joe Gonzales.  I am one of the attorneys for the defendant and

applicant, Miguel Martinez, in the above-entitled and numbered cause.  I have read this

Pretrial Application For Writ Of Habeas Corpus and swear that all of the allegations of

fact contained therein are true and correct.

_______________________________

JOE GONZALES

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN to before me this ____ day of March, 2017 to certify

which witness my hand and seal of office.

                             

Notary Public, State of Texas

My commission expires: 
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THE STATE OF TEXAS )

AFFIDAVIT

COUNTY OF BEXAR    )

BEFORE ME, the undersigned authority, on this day personally appeared Christian

Henricksen, who after being duly sworn stated: 

My name is Christian Henricksen.  I am one of the attorneys for the defendant

and applicant, Miguel Martinez, in the above-entitled and numbered cause.  I have read this

Pretrial Application For Writ Of Habeas Corpus and swear that all of the allegations of fact

contained therein are true and correct.

_______________________________

CHRISTIAN HENRICKSEN

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN to before me this ____ day of March, 2017 to certify

which witness my hand and seal of office.

                             

Notary Public, State of Texas

My commission expires: 
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ORDER OF SETTING

On this         day of                 , 2017, came on to be heard the application of Miguel

Martinez for a Pretrial Application For Writ of Habeas Corpus, and it appearing to the

Court that defendant is entitled to a hearing on said application.  It is therefore ordered that

the Clerk of this Court issue a Writ of Habeas Corpus and that a hearing on this application

for writ of habeas corpus be held in the courtroom of the                       , on the 

      day of                 , 2017 at        o'clock      a.m., then and there to show cause why the

said Miguel Martinez should not be released from restraint.

                             

JUDGE PRESIDING
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NO. 2015-CR-4203

EX PARTE ) IN THE DISTICT COURT

) 437TH JUDICIAL DISTRICT

MIGUEL MARTINEZ ) BEXAR COUNTY, TEXAS

ORDER

On this the            day of                                           , 2017, came on to be considered

this Pretrial Application For Writ Of Habeas Corpus , and said Application is hereby 

(GRANTED)     (DENIED).

                                                                                

PRESIDING JUDGE
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Exhibits
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